STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Abbeville County
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 21 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Opinion No. 2016-UP-436 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 14, 2016)

Indictment No. 2011-GS-01-046

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KEITH DENVER TATE,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000230

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to address the applicability of State v. Beaty, Op. No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 29, 2016)(Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 13-21) to Petitioner's case where the trial judge failed to require the state to open in full during closing argument and reply only to the defense's closing argument, which violated Petitioner's state and federal constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process of law?

II. Violating Petitioner's state and federal constitutional rights to a fair and impartial trial, did the Court of Appeals abdicate its duty to review the trial judge's failure to declare a mistrial based upon the alleged victim's multiple emotional outbursts that disrupted the trial and improperly influenced the jury to decide the case on emotion instead of the evidence presented?

III. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial judge's refusal to permit Petitioner to elicit testimony concerning the content of three illicit photographs found on the alleged victim's phone where the content was necessary for the jury to understand the alleged victim's motive to fabricate the allegations against Petitioner in violation of Petitioner's state and federal constitutional rights to present a defense and confront his accuser?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner and Minor's mother were involved in a romantic relationship and had a child in common. In 2009 and 2010, Petitioner and Minor's mother lived in an apartment in Calhoun Falls. Minor and her two brothers, one of whom was Petitioner's son, lived in the apartment as well. R. 12, l. 1 – R. 14, l. 16; R. 69, l. 17 – R. 70, l. 2. The apartment had three bedrooms, one bathroom, a living room, and a kitchen. R. 22, ll. 7-17; R. 253, ll. 5-9. There were two doors going in and out of the apartment – one in the front leading to the living room and one in the kitchen. Both doors were visible from the kitchen and living room. R. 22, l. 18 – R. 23, l. 8. The apartment was not carpeted, but had a tile floor. The walls were cinderblock. R. 34, ll. 7-15; R. 253, l. 9; R. 253, l. 19.

On March 23, 2010, twelve-year old Minor began dating fifteen-year old Terrance C. Minor's mother did not approve of the relationship and would not let her talk to him and would not let Minor visit Terrance in his home. R. 34, ll. 16-24; R. 48, l. 15 – R. 49, l. 17; R. 69, ll. 8-11; R. 105, ll. 7-17; R. 161, ll. 18-24. On August 14 and 15, Minor received three photographs of Terrance on her phone. The photographs showed Terrance completely nude and with an erect penis. Shortly thereafter, Petitioner and Minor's mother discovered the photographs on her phone. Unsurprisingly, they were very concerned and punished Minor. Additionally, they informed Terrance's parents of the photographs. R. 36, ll. 9-13; R. 37, l. 11 – R. 41, l. 13; R. 42, l. 11 – R. 45, l. 24; R. 162, l. 10 – R. 163, l. 7; R. 248, l. 11 – R. 249, l. 18; R. 368 – R. 372.

The Accusation

Less than ten days later, on August 23, 2010, Minor told her band director, Rebecca Holland, that Petitioner had sexually assaulted her ten times. R. 107, ll. 15-23; R. 163, ll. 13-17; R. 168, ll. 13-24; R. 169, ll. 5-11; R. 169, ll. 19-23. “[B]ecause it was so late in the afternoon, there were no people at the school” for Holland to make a report; therefore, she decided she would

address the matter the following day at school. R. 169, l. 25 – R. 170, l. 5; R. 172, ll. 17-20. Holland took Minor to her home, where Petitioner lived.¹ R. 172, ll. 10-13. Holland took Minor home from school every day. Holland claimed that Minor would cry on the way home, but Holland never inquired as to why. Minor would ask not to go home. Holland also claimed that she would see Petitioner waiting for Minor and he would grab Minor by the arm when she arrived home. R. 170, l. 23 – R. 171, l. 20; R. 172, ll. 14-16. Subsequently on August 25, 2010, Holland informed Lori Lindler, the school's guidance counselor and the assistant principal, about the accusations. R. 107, l. 24 – R. 108, l. 7; R. 171, ll. 21-23; R. 183, ll. 6-16. Lindler contacted the police. R. 108, ll. 8-10; R. 185, ll. 23-24.

At school, Lindler sat down with Minor to review the details of her allegations. During their meeting, the two used a school calendar to arrive at ten dates when the assaults allegedly occurred, including August 26, 2009, October 31, 2009, December 14, 2009, December 26, 2010, February 6, 2010, February 13, 2010, March 3, 2010, March 14, 2010, March 15, 2010, and March 18, 2010.² R. 78, l. 18 – R. 79, l. 10; R. 79, l. 18 – R. 80, l. 16; R. 101, l. 21-25; R. 164, l. 16 – R. 165, l. 3; R. 184, l. 7 – R. 185, l. 1.³ Minor's claims to Lindler concerned only sexual abuse; she made no allegations of physical abuse. R. 187, ll. 8-17. The day after Minor talked to the school officials

¹ The testimony on this point was conflicting. Minor said she talked to Holland at school and talked to Lindler the same day. R. 108, ll. 11-17. However, Holland and Lindler indicated otherwise.

² Minor told the nurse that she could remember the dates because she wrote about it in her diary. However, her diary did not contain entries for each of the encounters and did not contain details about the abuse. Instead, the diary contained poetry about her feelings. R. 124, ll. 2-10.

³ Despite the dates testified to at trial, the warrants and incident report differed to some degree. For example, the first incident was alleged to have occurred on August 29, 2009, not August 26, 2009, and another incident allegedly occurred on February 14, 2010, not February 13, 2010. R. 206, ll. 9-14; R. 209, ll. 15-21. Initially, Minor said that all ten incidents occurred in Calhoun Falls. However, immediately before trial, she changed her story to say the alleged incident on December 26, 2009, occurred in Greenville County. R. 106, ll. 1-14; R. 207, ll. 2-12.

and police officers, her mother took her to the hospital. R. 110, ll. 21-24. Minor also met with a lady at Child's Place on September 28, 2010. R. 111, ll. 6-13; R. 259, ll. 21-25. Months later, in November 2010, Minor was examined by Dr. Lyle Pritchard. R. 112, ll. 7-18; R. 227, ll. 3-11.

Initially, Minor claimed that on each of those occasions, Petitioner penetrated her vagina. R. 79, ll. 14-17. However, later, Minor claimed penetration of her vagina with his penis during every encounter except the last one. On that date, he put his penis in her mouth. R. 88, ll. 10-18. She also changed her story to say that she recalled him putting his penis in her "butt hole." R. 88, ll. 19-21. Minor testified that she bled the first time Petitioner penetrated her vagina and when he penetrated her butt hole. R. 88, l. 24 – R. 89, l. 2.

Concerning the first alleged assault, Minor claimed this occurred at home while her mother and brothers were there. Minor claimed Petitioner assaulted her in the living room on the couch. During her testimony, Minor claimed Petitioner asked to see the sizes of her bra and panties. Then, he started kissing her and rubbing her. Petitioner then removed her clothes and penetrated her vagina with his penis. R. 82, ll. 17-24; R. 83, ll. 4-6; R. 83, l. 10 – R. 84, l. 11; R. 87, ll. 1-8. Minor previously said that during the first alleged encounter, Petitioner threw her on the couch and hit her in the face with his fist. R. 139, ll. 20-25; R. 275, l. 4 – R. 276, l. 7. She also claimed that she screamed during this attack. R. 140, lines 8-10. She claimed there was blood everywhere. R. 140, ll. 11-12.

Regarding the second alleged assault, Minor testified there was a football game on October 30, 2009. R. 126, ll. 22-24; R. 128, ll. 4-8.⁴ Minor did not recall saying that Petitioner "stuck it up

⁴ Minor claimed the football game on October 30, 2009, was a home game. However, a school calendar showed the game was away in Twiggs County, Georgia. R. 134, l. 9 – R. 135, l. 1. Then, Minor changed her story to say it may have been after a Junior Varsity football game. R. 135, ll. 11-16.

[her] butt” that time, but she remembered that she screamed and Petitioner hit her busting her lip. R. 128, ll. 9-14. Previously, Minor had stated Petitioner “stuck it up her butt.” R. 276, ll. 19-21. The next morning, Minor woke up on the couch in the living room to an empty house. Her shorts were up, but her underwear was down. Her shirt was on a lamp. R. 131, ll. 1-21; R. 277, ll. 16-24; R. 279, l. 14 – R. 280, l. 3. She admitted that anyone who left the apartment would have had to walk right by her in her disheveled state. R. 132, ll. 23-25. Although the following morning would have been a Saturday based on the date, Minor told the interviewer that she had missed her ride to school that day and her mother had to give her ride. She also told the interviewer that her brothers were gone because their school bus arrived at 7:00 a.m. R. 278, ll. 1-8.

Regarding the last incident, Minor claimed that Petitioner put her on the couch, took out his penis and placed it in her mouth. She bit his penis and he started screaming. She then ran to her room and placed her dresser in front of the door. R. 145, l. 22 – R. 146, l. 16.⁵

Minor’s mother never saw or heard anything that made her suspect any kind of sexual abuse. R. 20, ll. 18-21. Minor’s mother never heard any screaming in the house. R. 21, ll. 22-24

Supposedly, Minor told Terrance that Petitioner had sexually assaulted her months before he told his mother about the alleged abuse on August 26, 2010. Terrance’s mother told the school counselor, Lindler. R. 53, ll. 9-25; R. 58, l. 18 – R. 59, l. 4; R. 73, l. 23 – R. 74, l. 1; R. 78, ll. 5-19; R. 106, ll. 17-23; R. 183, ll. 17-21. According to Terrance, Minor claimed that during the first assault “he went through her anal and she screamed,” then he stopped and “went through the front.” Minor told Terrance that her brother walked in during the assault. When Minor told her brother to

⁵ According to the Executive Director of the South Carolina Housing Authority, the apartment where Minor lived had bedroom doors with locks. R. 253, ll. 13-17. This was according to HUD regulations. R. 254, l. 25 – R. 255, l. 3. The apartments were inspected annually to ensure all remained in line with the regulations. R. 255, ll. 20-24.

get her mother, Petitioner told him no, whipped the brother, and slapped Minor. Thereafter, Minor “passed out and woke up in a tub full of bloody water.” R. 54, l. 4 – R. 55, l. 16.⁶ Minor told Terrance that during the most recent assault, Petitioner “walked in her room one night and snatched his pants down and hers.” R. 56, l. 13 – R. 57, l. 2. One night while Petitioner was assaulting Minor, Terrance sent a text message to Minor’s phone. The phone was in the bedroom with Minor’s mother and the text message indication woke Minor’s mother. When this happened, Petitioner stopped the alleged assault. R. 57, ll. 3-13.⁷ Minor told Terrance that “one night when she was asleep [Petitioner] put his private part in her mouth and she bit it.” Petitioner “got mad and grounded her.” Minor claimed that Petitioner would not stop the abuse even if she were bleeding. She further claimed “that blood was on the sheets, and it was coming out quick, but he wouldn’t stop.” R. 57, l. 17 – R. 58, l. 3.

The Trial

On February 4, 2011, an Abbeville County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for nine counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. R. 2, ll. 15-20; R. 376 - 377. The state, represented by C. Yates Brown and Lance Sheek, called the case for trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury on May 27, 2014. Janna Nelson and Shane Goranson represented Petitioner. R. 1. After a three-day trial, the jury acquitted Petitioner of eight of the charges. However, the jury found Petitioner guilty as to one (2011-GS-01-0046). R. 349, l. 1 – R. 350, l. 7. Thereafter, Judge Hocker sentenced Petitioner to sixteen years’ imprisonment. R. 351, ll. 20-22; R. 392. After the trial, Petitioner filed a timely motion for new trial. R. 368 – R. 372. A hearing on

⁶ Minor denied that her brother ever walked in on one of the alleged sexual assaults. R. 152, ll. 15-19. However, Minor agreed that she passed out and woke up in a tub full of bloody water. R. 152, ll. 20-22; R. 153, ll. 12-20. Minor told Holland that she woke up in bloody water ten times – after each incident. R. 175, ll. 10-18.

⁷ Minor denied this occurred. R. 160, ll. 17-24; R. 161, ll. 8-11.

the motion commenced on July 15, 2014, before Judge Hocker. R. 352. Judge Hocker denied the motion by a written order filed on July 23, 2014. R. 373. Petitioner received notice of the order on July 28, 2014.

The Appeal

On August 4, 2014, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. Petitioner's appeal was perfected in the Court of Appeals by undersigned counsel, Susan Barber Hackett. On October 19, 2016, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentenced in an unpublished opinion. App. 1-4. Subsequently, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 5-18. On December 14, 2016, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing, but withdrew the previous opinion and submitted a new opinion. State v. Tate, 2016-UP-436 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Oct. 19, 2016); App. 19-24. On December 29, 2016, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing concerning the substituted opinion. App. 25-40. On January 10, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing.

Petitioner now files this petition for writ of certiorari.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to address the applicability of *State v. Beaty*, Op. No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 29, 2016)(Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 13-21) to Petitioner's case where the trial judge failed to require the state to open in full during closing argument and reply only to the defense's closing argument, which violated Petitioner's state and federal constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process of law.

Relevant facts

Prior to closing arguments, defense counsel moved to require the state to open in full and use their final argument for rebuttal only. R. 284, l. 21 – R. 285, l. 3. Defense counsel submitted a written motion in support of this position as well. R. 363 – R. 367.⁸ Petitioner compared the order of closing to that in civil cases. Petitioner argued that in civil cases, the jury is not being asked to determine guilt and the burden of proof is much lower. R. 286, ll. 6-17. Despite Petitioner's well-reasoned arguments, the judge denied the motion. R. 286, ll. 6-17.

Thereafter, the parties proceeded to closing arguments with the state opening on the law, then defense counsel arguing in full, and the state arguing again. At the conclusion of the arguments and jury instructions, defense counsel noted multiple statements by the prosecutor to which she could not respond due to the order of the closing arguments. First, the prosecutor argued to the jury that “[d]efense counsel wasn't there and can't tell you what happened.” The obvious response would be that the prosecutor was not there either. R. 340, ll. 9-12.

Second, the prosecutor related a personal story of when he had traumatic events in his life and that he could not remember what he wore. Defense counsel argued that “[n]one of this case is

⁸ Defense counsel argued this issue in the motion for new trial as well. R. 368 – R. 372.

about clothing. It's about statements, things that were said, things that happened." When the subject of clothing was presented, no questions were asked about the details of the clothing. Further, the questions about the clothing concerned what she stated to police and others around the time of the alleged incident, not at the trial, as the prosecutor implied to the jury. R. 340, ll. 12-22.

Third, defense counsel argued the prosecutor made "just an absolute misrepresentation to the jury about the DNA evidence." Specifically, the prosecutor asked the jury why would the state send Petitioner's cover for DNA testing when it would just show his DNA. This was a misrepresentation because the state did send the cover for DNA testing. The report was that there was no blood on the covers; therefore, the prosecutor's argument was "a total misleading and inaccurate statement." R. 340, l. 22 – R. 341, l. 7.

Fourth, the prosecutor argued there was no dispute about Minor telling her boyfriend about the alleged assaults a month and a half before. However, this was not true because Minor responded that she could not remember when she told her boyfriend about the alleged assaults. R. 341, ll. 7-14.

Fifth, the prosecutor made disparaging remarks comparing prosecutors and defense attorneys. Specifically, the prosecutor told the jury "how glad he was to be on this side and that his ethical obligations were different." Due to the order of arguments, defense counsel could not tell the jury that the prosecutor, who was a former public defender, "defended one of these cases just earlier this year ... and got his guy off, and in a child sex case in another circuit." R. 341, ll. 15-24.

Discussion

On December 14, 2016, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence in an unpublished opinion. State v. Tate, 2016-UP-436 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 14, 2016). Concerning this issue, the Court of Appeals stated only:

As to whether the trial court erred in failing to require the state to open in full during closing argument and reply only to the defense's closing argument: State v. Gellis, 158 S.C. 471, 487, 155 S.E. 849, 855 (1930)("[I]f a defendant offers any evidence on trial of the case, the state is not deprived of its general right to opening and concluding arguments."); State v. Rodgers, 269 S.C. 22, 24, 235 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1977)("The solicitor is entitled to open the closing arguments to the jury unless the defendant has offered no evidence."); id. at 25, 235 S.E.2d at 809("The solicitor is not required to make an opening argument to the jury on issues of fact, ... but may do so in his discretion.").

Tate, supra; App. 23.

Fifteen days after the Court of Appeals issued its substituted opinion in the instant case, this Court decided State v. Beaty, Op. No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 29, 2016)(Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 13-21) addressing the content of closing arguments in criminal trials. Although Petitioner asked the Court of Appeals to rehear his case based on the Beaty decision, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing with no mention of the case. App. 25-41.⁹ Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant certiorari to review this issue because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with this Court's decision in Beaty. See Rule 242(b)(3), SCACR.

This Court held "that in a criminal trial where the party with the 'middle' argument requests, the party with the right to the first and last closing argument must open in full on the law and the facts, and in reply may respond in full to the other party's argument but may not raise new matter." Beaty, supra. Thus, it is now settled that when a defendant requests the state "open in full" for closing argument, the state must do so. The trial judge erred in failing to require the state to open fully during Petitioner's trial.

⁹ As an initial matter, Petitioner benefits from the Beaty ruling as his case was pending on direct review and the issue was preserved for review. See State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 612-613, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 (2009)(citing Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 328 (1987)("hold[ing] that a new rule for the conduct of criminal prosecutions is to be applied retroactively to all cases ... pending on direct review or not yet final), Harris v. State, 543 S.E.2d 716, 717-718 (Ga. 2001)(reversing a murder conviction and overruling precedent that had approved inference of intent to kill from use of a deadly weapon and applying the new rule "to all cases in the 'pipeline' – i.e., cases which are pending in direct review or not yet final"))).

Closing argument is “an aspect of a fair trial which is implicit in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment by which the states are bound.” Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 649 (1974)(Douglas, J., dissenting). The South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure are silent on the order of closing arguments. However, the Rules of Civil Procedure provide that

[t]he moving party upon a motion shall have the right to open and close argument, and the plaintiff shall have the right to open and close upon the trial; except that a party admitting the adverse party’s claim in his pleading, and taking upon himself the burden of proof, shall have the like privilege. The party having the right to open shall be required to open in full, and in reply my respond in full but may not introduce any new matter.

Rule 43(j), SCRCPP.

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