STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Abbeville County
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2016-UP-436 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 12/23/15)
Appellate Case No. 2017-000230

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

KEITH DENVER TATE,

PETITIONER.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 102259

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Court of Appeals properly declined to apply State v. Beaty, Op No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 29, 2016) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 13-21) in Petitioner's case because Beaty expressly states it applies only to cases tried after the opinion. Further, the trial judge's decision to follow the established procedure of allowing the prosecution to open its closing argument on the law and argue last on the facts did not violate Petitioner's constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process of law.**

Relevant Facts

Prior to closing arguments, Defense Counsel informed the trial judge she had a motion about the order of closing. ROA. p. 194. Defense Counsel noted she also had a written motion in support of her argument. ROA. p. 284. In presenting her motion, Defense Counsel argued:

But the only thing I would add is that if this is - - if this is the way it's done in civil cases where you're not dealing with somebody's constitutional rights, and that's the way it's done, then that's the process that needs to be used in criminal cases where the State has the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. The standard of proof is higher. There are constitutional rights implicated, and for all those reasons we think that this practice of allowing it the way it's been done needs to change.

ROA. p. 286. The trial judge denied the defense's motion. ROA. p. 286. Following closing arguments by both the State and the defense and the judge's instructions to the jury, Defense Counsel noted several things in the State's closing argument that she claimed she would have responded to had she been able to have the last argument. ROA. p. 340.

Discussion

Petitioner contends the Court of Appeals erred in failing to address the applicability of State v. Beaty, Op. No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 29, 2016) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 13-21), to Petitioner's case. Specifically, Petitioner asserts this Court should grant certiorari to review this issue because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the Beaty decision. Petitioner identified several comments made by the State during closing argument he

wanted to respond to and avers that his inability to respond to the Solicitor's comments constitute a deprivation of his right to a fair trial and due process of law. Petitioner thus contends the order of closing arguments was not harmless, as it was found to be in Beaty. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals properly declined to apply Beaty because the Beaty opinion expressly states the rule applies only to cases tried "after this opinion becomes final." As of the date of the State's Return, the State's petition for rehearing is still pending in Beaty, thus Beaty is not even final. The trial judge's decision to follow the decades-long procedure of allowing the prosecution to open its closing argument on the law and argue last on the facts did not violate Petitioner's constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process of law.

In State v. Beaty, Beaty argued the trial judge erred in failing to require the State to open fully on the law and facts in its closing argument, and to limit the State's reply to matters raised in Beaty's "middle" closing argument. Beaty asserted without such a rule, his procedural due process rights were violated. This Court found that "in a criminal trial where the party with the right to middle argument requests, the party with the right to the first and last closing argument must open in full on the law and the facts, and in reply may respond in full to the other party's argument but may not raise new matter." The Court subsequently held that after reviewing the State's arguments, any error in the trial judge's denial of the motion was harmless in Beaty's case. This Court concluded by stating:

Further, we hold that in criminal cases tried **after this opinion becomes final**, if requested by the party with the right to second argument, the party with the right to open and close will be required to open in full on the law and the facts, and be limited in reply to addressing the other party's argument and not permitted to raise new matters.

(emphasis added).

Accordingly, since Beaty plainly confines its holding to cases tried after it, Petitioner's assertion that the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case conflicts with Beaty is simply incorrect. The trial in this case was years before the Beaty decision, and as of the date of this Return, the State's petition for rehearing in Beaty has not been denied, thus the Beaty decision has not yet become final. Since the Beaty opinion is applicable only to cases tried after the opinion becomes final, the Court of Appeals did not err in declining to apply it to Petitioner's case.

Moreover, even if Beaty and its analysis applied in Petitioner's case, the Court should similarly conclude that any error in the trial judge denying his motion to require the State to open in full was harmless. In order for the trial judge's decision to follow the then-established order of closing arguments to be prejudicial, it must have made a difference in the jury's verdict. See Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (holding that in order to demonstrate prejudice, there must be a "reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof."). Petitioner can make no such showing in this case. Petitioner points to five specific statements by the Solicitor as proof he suffered harm as a result of the Court's ruling. At trial, Petitioner proffered what response he would have made to those five statements if given the opportunity.

First, Petitioner takes issue with the Solicitor's statement to the jury that, "Defense Counsel wasn't there and can't tell you what happened." ROA p. 340. Petitioner states "The obvious response would be that the prosecutor was not there either." Pet. for Writ of Certiorari p. 9. Second, Petitioner takes issue with a personal story relayed by the Solicitor where he discussed forgetting details like what clothing he wore during a traumatic event. ROA. P. 340. Petitioner would have liked to argue that the case was not about clothing and that clothing paid

almost no role in the evidentiary presentation in the case. Third, Petitioner argues the Solicitor made an “absolute misrepresentation to the jury about the DNA evidence.” ROA. p. 340. Fourth, Petitioner contends the Solicitor made a misrepresentation when stating there was no dispute about Victim telling her boyfriend about the assaults a month and a half before, but Victim earlier testified she could not remember when she told her boyfriend about the assaults. ROA. p. 341. Fifth, Petitioner avers he was prejudiced when the Solicitor stated during his closing “how glad he was to be on this side and that his ethical obligations were different.” ROA. p. 341. Defense Counsel wanted the chance to tell the jury he defended a child sexual abuse case in the Eighth Circuit earlier this year and got an acquittal, and also defended a child sexual abuse case in another circuit.

These five statements do not present the kind of prejudice that would influence the jury’s verdict. All of the complained of comments either deal with factual discrepancies or a desire for petty sniping between Defense Counsel and the Solicitor. None of the comments garner sufficient prejudice to deny Petitioner any constitutional right. The allegations that the Solicitor mischaracterized or misstated evidence is further harmless because the trial judge, as is done in all criminal cases, repeatedly instructed the jury that they were the fact finders in the case. The jury also understood that arguments made by counsel were not evidence because the trial judge further instructed them that “You are to consider only the testimony which has been presented from the witness stand any exhibits which have been made a part of the record in this case and any stipulations of counsel.” ROA p. 330. Therefore any alleged error in this case, as it was in Beaty, is clearly harmless. This Court should deny certiorari.

II. The Court of Appeals properly found the trial judge did not err in denying the defense's motion for a mistrial where the victim's emotional state during the trial did not constitute the requisite manifest necessity to warrant the declaration of a mistrial.

Relevant Facts

During the defense's opening argument, Victim became visibly upset. Defense Counsel briefly paused and told the court, "Your honor, it looks like – it looks like [Victim] is upset and I don't want that to distract the jury." ROA. p. 9. The judge briefly spoke with both lawyers at the bench before Defense Counsel continued her opening arguments. ROA. pp. 9-10. Victim's emotional state came about shortly after Defense Counsel referred to her as a story teller akin to Stephen King or James Patterson. ROA. pp. 8-9. During the next recess, the judge noted for the record that Victim became upset during the Defense's opening statement. ROA. p. 28. The trial judge noted the court "has no problem with that, but if that's still a recurring problem then I think we ought to agree that she needs not to be in the courtroom because of the potential nature it has to be disruptive. So just as a cautionary matter." ROA. p. 28.

On direct examination, Victim became emotional while describing the first instance of sexual assault by Petitioner. ROA. p. 84. The Solicitor asked if Victim would like to take a break and she indicated that she would. ROA. p. 84. After the jury exited the courtroom, the Solicitor asked the court how it would like to handle Victim's testimony during the spells where she became emotional. ROA. pp. 84-85. The trial judge replied:

Well, evidently it's very difficult for her to testify. She's just going to have to - - she's going to have to do the best job she can and, you know, we'll just have to, you know, muddle our way through it. Possibly you could, without discussing her testimony, just maybe talk with her, and she's going to have to, you know, try to - - you know, try not to be emotional. Easy for me to say.

ROA. p. 85.

The judge instructed Victim, "I know this is difficult for you to testify. I understand that. But it's really important that you do the very best that you can and there is a lot to cover in questions that will be asked of you. So you just need to do the very best that you can so we can get through your testimony." ROA. p. 85. Victim was able to get through the remainder of her direct testimony without any more periods where she was visibly emotional.

During the lengthy cross-examination by Defense Counsel, Victim indicated that she did not want to keep talking about the incident. ROA. p. 155. When asked by Defense Counsel whether she could keep going, Victim requested a break. ROA. p. 155. After Victim stepped down from the witness stand, the trial judge told the solicitors, "I realize she's emotional. I understand that. But I don't want this - - and this is - - I'm not commenting on - - but it's being disruptive. Okay? So I want both of you all to go out there and talk to her." ROA. p. 155. After a brief recess, prior to the jury returning to the courtroom, the trial judge stated:

I don't want any perception of anyone to think that I'm not being unsympathetic. But I've got to maintain decorum in this courtroom. And regardless of the nature of the allegations and the emotions involved and everything, I've still got to maintain decorum, and I just can't tolerate the witness storming out of the courtroom in the manner in which she did. I think the vast majority, if not all of the jurors, were back in the courtroom, or most of them at least were back in there when that took place. But I just - - and I hope both Solicitors have talked with her. And I know this has not been an easy experience for this witness to be testifying. But nonetheless, she's got to be aware that we can't allow that sort of conduct.

ROA. p. 156.

Defense Counsel moved for a mistrial, asserting that it was warranted "because of the pretty extreme display of emotion that was going on while [Victim] was sobbing as the jury left the jury box and while the door back there behind the jury box was still open she started yelling out for her mother . . ." ROA. p. 157. The trial judge denied the defense's motion, ruling:

In light of the fact that we've had a lot of emotion displayed by this witness throughout her testimony, a lot of crying, I think she's gone through a good many Kleenexes. We have had to take a break or two. I think in light of that then I don't see where that necessarily would create the type and amount of prejudice, if any. But certainly not the amount and type of prejudice that would justify a pretty severe remedy of declaring a mistrial. So I'm going to deny it.

ROA. p. 158. The trial judge later noted "[T]his is just inherent in a case like this that there is going to be a lot of emotion." ROA. p. 159. The trial judge further stated, "We may have some other witnesses get very emotional, too, when it's all said and done in this case. I don't know that. But taking everything into consideration I don't think the justification is there to grant a mistrial." ROA. p. 159. Defense counsel did not request a curative instruction at any point in the proceeding.

During her closing argument, Defense Counsel highlighted Victim's emotional state in order to further her assertion that Victim was a "storyteller," stating:

They're calling him a child molester. So yes, he gets to have an advocate who gets up and says that's a story. That is not true. And if it really isn't true, is it worse to be called a storyteller than it is to be called a child molester? The first time you see [Victim's] emotional reaction is when I was giving you my opening statement and telling you how I was going to be talking about these different versions of her story. And when she knew that was going to happen she got upset. And you can interpret that, I guess one of two ways. She was crying because what happened to her was so horrible and she doesn't like having to go through it again or she's crying because somebody is pointing out the problems with the things she's saying and the reason that you shouldn't believe it, and that - - and that is difficult for her. And there may be other ways to interpret it. I don't know.

ROA. p. 308.

During the State's closing argument, the Solicitor noted the heinous nature of sexual abuse crimes involving the parent of a child and stated, "And I can't imagine the emotional trauma of coming in here and having to talk about it four years later." ROA. p. 320. The Solicitor

then told the jury that one of the greatest tasks before them as jurors in these case was to judge credibility. ROA. pp. 320-321. The Solicitor stated:

And the one thing you got is you get to judge the demeanor of the people in the courtroom. Their manner, their body language, how they testified to you. You saw the raw emotion of that young lady. You saw her to say to Ms. Nelson (Defense Counsel), I don't want to think about it. You're making me go back and back through and I don't want to think about it. I don't want to relive it. Don't you understand that. That's what this child said to this lady. Now, I understand as a grown attorney, having done this over and over again, maybe it's not a big deal. To that child, it was a very, very big deal.

ROA. p. 321. The Solicitor later noted "You look at what those witnesses said and you decide if you're convinced this man did penetrate that child. Was that a emotion you watched real. Because if she's made all this up and she's put on that kind of act, she deserves an Academy Award, because that was compelling." ROA. p. 324.

Discussion

Petitioner asserts the trial judge erred in refusing to declare a mistrial due to Victim's shows of emotion during trial. Specifically, Petitioner contends the show of emotion by Victim disrupted the trial and improperly influenced the jury to decide the case on emotion. The State submits this argument is without merit, as the trial judge properly denied the motion for a mistrial where there was no showing of manifest necessity to warrant the declaration of a mistrial.

"The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. The trial court's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 585, 698 S.E.2d 862, 865 (Ct. App. 2010) (citation and quotation marks omitted). Our courts favor the exercise of wide discretion of the trial judge in determining the merits of such motion in each individual case.

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